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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
EASTERN DIVISION
TERRY GAFFORD

Plaintiff,

— N N

VS. ) Case No. 4:14%+01603JAR

ROBERT A. MCDONALD,
Secretary oVeterans Affairs

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court on crasetions for summary judgment filed by
Defendant Robert A. McDonald (Doc. 35) and Plaintiff Terry Gafi@dc. 39). The motions
are fully briefed and ready for disposition. For the following reasons, Defendaatisnnfor
summary judgment will be granted, Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment will biedlesind
judgment will be entered in favor of Defeard.

|. Background
The following facts are undisputed except where indicat€h March 29, 2009,

Plaintiff, an AfricarAmerican man, started a oiyear probationary term of employment as an

! Local Rule 4.01(E) provides the following with respect to summary judgment motions:

A memorandum in support of a motion for summary judgment shall have

attached a statement of uncontroverted material facts, set forth in a
separately numbered paragraph for each fact, indicating whether each fact
is established by the record, and, if so, the appropriate citations. Every
memorandum in opposition shall include a statement of material facts as
to which the party contends a genuine issue exists. Those matters i

dispute shall be set forth with specific references to portions of the record,
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Education Program Specialist with tBenployee Education SysteffEES”) of the Department
of Veterans Affairs (“VA”) (Doc. 41 (Defendant’s Reply to PlaintifResponse to Defendant’s
Statement of Uncontroverted Facts) at 13). At all relevant times, Plainti$itdeivel supervisor
was Mary Fakedld. at 74).

Plaintiff was assigned ta group of employees nam&dISN 11,” which wascomprised
of Plaintiff; Lisa Goldstein, an Education Service Representative (“ESR”) who was the team
leader; and Cherie Bolden, a Program Support Assistant (“PSA”) who provided theufgam s
(Id. at 1118, 25). Fakes also supervised another group of employees“sddd 15’ of which
Jen Shearon, an ESR; Jeff Rainey, an Educ&rogramSpecialist; and Deborah Ray, a BSA
were memberdd. at 15, 62, 64; Doc. 36.22).

On June 29, 200%akes rated Plaintiff at “fully successful or better” on hisda§
performance review, which required her to assess, inter alia, whether Pdifrjé#lationships
with supervisors, ceovorkers, and others within the organizatjevere] consistently coueous

and cooperative in nature and contrilpdldo the effective operation of the work unit and team

where available, upon which the opposing party relies. The opposing party
also shall note for all disputed facts the paragraph number from movant’s
listing of facts. All matters set forth in the staent of the movant shall be
deemed admitted for purposes of summary judgment unless specifically
controverted by the opposing party.

E.D. Mo. L.R. 4.01(E). With his memorandum in support of his summary judgment motion,
Defendant sbmitted exhibits and a statement of facts with citations to the réioos. 3537 &
Attach.) Plaintiff filed a response to Defendant’s statement of unconverted fact$jich e
specifically objected to some, but not all, of the facts as set forth bywdlsafe and provided
specific references to portions of the record for some, but not all, of the mattéasrieziavere

in dispute (Doc38). To the extent Plaintifflid not specifically dispute certain facts afigputed
otherfacts without providing specific citations to the record, the Court has deemed thisse fac
admitted for the purposes of adjudicating the parties’ emssons for summary judgment.
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986) (party opposing summary judgment
motion must offer controverting affidavits or other evidence from which a reasonableguly
return a verdict in his favorgee alsd&chooley v. Kennedy, 712 F.2d 372, 373 (8th Cir. 1983)
(pro se litigants are not excused from compliance with lodes)
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function” (Doc. 38.1). Fakes’s appraisal did nadllege that Plaintiff had engaged in
inappropriate behavior or communications with other EES emploigkgs (

On July 28 and 29, 2009, employees of VISN 11 and VISN 15 participated in-siteff
teambuilding retreat Doc. 41at 1{24-25. During theretreat the employees discussed rumors
that Fakes had been hiring her friends and formevaxiers for psitions at EES and that some
EES employees were afraid of Fakés @t 126). On August 13, 2009, several employees of
VISN 11 and VISN 15 attended an afteork goingaway party for a departing EES employee.
During the party, some of tr@mployees discsed the rumors regarding Fakes’s hiring practices
and their belief that she was showing favoritism to her friends famcher co-workers (d. at
128).

On August 14, 2009, Plaintiff met with Fakes and informed her that higodeers had
expressed concerhdt she was showing favoritism to her friends by hiring them to work at EES.
He did not identify the covorkers who had voiced conceandhe did notallege that Fakelsad
violated Title VII or that shdad been discriminating against EES employeespgicants on
the basis ofheir race,national origin or religion (Dos. 36.2 atl3-16;36.13 at 710; 41at {3t
35)?

In August 2009, Wayne Surratt became Plaintiff's sedemd| supervisoroc. 41 at
148. Plaintiff's employment with the VAvas termiated on October 22, 2009; the effective date
of his termination was November 7, 2008. @t 16). A termination memorandum from Surratt to

Plaintiff, dated October 22, 2009, stated the following as the basis of Plaiwtiffisyation:

2 Plaintiff now claims that he did not mention race to Fakes during the August 14, 2009
meeting because she became upset when he reported the rumors regardingghpraltices
(Doc. 41 at 131). He has not, however, submitted any admissible evidence to support this
assertion and histestimonyat his deposition and administrative heartegds tocontradict it
(Docs. 36.2 at 11-15; 36.13 at 7-9, 24-25).



On May 6, 2009, [Fakes] verbally counseled you regarding your inappropriate
behavior and communications with fellow employees. On May 18, 2009, [Fakes]
had a followup conversation with you to address inappropriate communications
with fellow employees. On June 29, 2009 ywere again verbally counseled for
inappropriate communication with fellow employees. On August 14, 2009 you
were again verbally counseled that involving yourself in matters that do not
involve you is inappropriate. On August 17, 2009 you were verbally counseled for
inappropriate conversations with fellow employees, disclosure of information
obtained in confidence to others and involving yourself in situations thattdo no
pertain to your employment within [EES].
(Doc. 36.5).Plaintiff denies that he waver verbally counseled by Fakes, and notes that Fakes
did not document any of the alleged counseling sessions on her calendar (Docs. 38.16; 41 at
112223, 40, 42).Defendant has submitted notes which he claims were prepared by Fakes and
which purport to document various times she verbally counseled Plaintiff (Doc. 36.10).
Defendant has also submitted notes that Fakes took during an October 16, 2009 meeting attended
by Fakes, Surratt, and a VA human resources representative. The noteshatyesd df that
date, Surratt “want[ed Plaintiff] gone,” and he was concerned Plaintiffdvoat “screw up” if
he were put on notice and given an opportunity to improve his behavior. The notes also reflect
that the human resources representative expressed concerthihdparty might later question
why Plaintiff was not put on notice before he was terminated (Doc. 35.18).
On January 21, 2010, Plaintiff filed an EEO complaint alleging that Defendant had
discriminated against him based on his age and race, anethhdted against him as well; his
EEO complaint did not allege discrimination or retaliation on the basis of his statugeteran

(Docs. 36.6; 41 &7). During his deposition anddministrative hearing, Plaintiff testified, inter

alia, thatwhen he reported his agorkers’ concerns to Fakese did not knowthe identities of

3 Although the parties dispute whether Fakes ever verbally counseledffPldiatCourt
need not redcthis issue in light of its conclusion, discussed morg fallthe Analysis section,
that Plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case of age discriminatergisgrimination,
or Title VIl retaliation.



the friends to whonshehad allegedly shown favoritisnand that hehad assumeder friends
were Caucasian (Dec36.2 at 12-14; 36.13 at 24-26).

Fakes testified to the followingelevant facts at Plaintiff's administrative hearing (Doc.
36.2). On May 6, 2009Eunice Beckwith, another EES employee who reported to Fakes,
informedFakesthat Plaintiff had been rude and unprofessional to EES staff. According to Fakes,
Beckwith told her that Bolden, the PSA who supported Plaintiff, had complained about
Plaintiff's behavior. Fakes then spoke with Beckwith, who expressed concern ahbatitfBla
“rude tone and abrupt conversations” with her (Doc. 36.2 at 24). Fakes furthezdaktitshe
then met with Plaintiff and, inter alia, advised him that other employees hadecepmitierthat
he had been “speaking down to them or giving orders,” and recommended that he consider
taking a different approach with his-emrkers (d. at 28). Fake followed up with Plaintiff a
few weeks later, and advised him that EES fostered more of a “team” approagpoasd to
“giv[ing] an order and walk[ing] away’ld. at 29).Plaintiff does not deny that Beckwith and
Bolden voiced concerns to Fakes about him and the way he was interacting with support
personnel; he does however dispute the accuracy of Defendant’s allegation thaavisriveas
actually inappropriate (Doc. 41 1Y189).

Fakes further testified that, in August 2009, Plaintiff approachedrtold her that he
“had had words with” one of his esorkers at the goingway party (Doc. 36.2 at 30, -356).
According to Fakes, Plaintiff informed her that one of hiswookerscomplaired about Fakes’s
hiring practices at the party; that he tolé toworker he had hearsimilar complaints about
Fakes’s hiring practices during confidential discussions at the retraathéhceworker, who he
would not identify, told him not to involve himself in business that did not involve him; and that

the coworker had yelled at him in his office the next morning (Doc. 36.2 &330Fakes also



testified that Plaintiff told her she needed to “take care of” the rumorg hbohiring practices
(Id. at 3334). Upon further investigation, Fakes learned thatdpedb Ray, a member of VISN
15, had discussed, during the retréag, allegations that Fakes was showing improper favoritism
in her hiring decisions. According to Fakes, Ray became “very upset” when shecapgdrbar
to discusswhat Plaintiff had told her as everything at the retreat was have remained
confidential. Ray was concerned that confidential discussions with hewaders had not
remained confidentialDoc. 36.2 at 3910). Fakes’s investigation also identified Christa
Hummel, an employee who did not report to her, as the employee with whom Plaintiffehad
disagreement at the gohagvay party. When Fakes approached Hummel about what Plaintiff
had told her, Hummel also became “very upset” and stated that Plaintiff should nobldave t
Fakes abut the discussion of Fakes’s hiring practices at the gavey party Id. at 4041).

Plaintiff's EEO claim was deniedfter an administrative hearir(@ocs. 41 at 1911;
36.7), and on September 12, 201k filed suit in this Court, assartg three caims for relief
(Doc. 1). First, he alleged that Defendant discriminated against him based ortehianch
retaliated against him in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Titld")/las
amended, 42 U.S.C. 200eet seq.Second, he claimed that Defendant discriminated against
him based on his age in violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“AREAR
U.S.C. 8621 et seq.Third, he asserted that Defendant discriminated against him based on his
previous military service in violation of the Uniform Services Employment amnB®yment
Rights Act ("USERRA), 38 U.S.C. &1301et seq(ld.). Defendant moved to dismiss Plaintiff's
original complaint, which Plaintiff opposed (Docs4367, 1011). The Court granted the
motion in part, and dismissed Plaintiff's claim of militeatatus discrimination under USERRA

for failure to exhaust his administrative remedies and lack of subject maisstigtion, and



dismissed his ADEA claim without prejudice for failure to state a claintc(28). On October
14, 2015, Plaintiff filed his nowperative, secondmended complaint, in which he asserts
claims of race discrimination and retaliation in violation of Title VII, age discriti@nain
violation of the ADEA, and “veteran status” discrimination in violation of USERR@&c([19).

Now pending are the parties’ crasmtions for summary judgment (Docs-38, 41, 43).
Defendant argues that he is entitled to summary judgment because Plainift leatablished a
prima facie case of age disuination, race discrimination, or Title VII retaliation, and because
the Court lacks jurisdiction ovehnis USERRA claim. Defendant furthesrgues that even
assuming Plaintiff has made out prima facie cases of age and race discriminatemfdiet o
show that Defendant’s proffered reason for terminating—hms inappropriate behavior and
communications with his eworkers—was pretext to discriminatiofbocs. 37, 43).

Plaintiff argues that Defendant terminated him based on his agacljsand the fact that
he reported his ecworkers’ concerngegardingFakess hiring practices(Doc. 39 at12-17).
According to Plaintiff, Defendant’s proffered reason for his tertionais merely pretext to
retaliation and age and race discriminatitwh)( In support of his position, Plaintiff points to his
June 2009 assessment, in which Fakes rated him “fully succesdfetter” without noting any
concerns about inappropriate behavior. He also contends that his disclosure eWbhrkerg’
concerns regarding kass allegedly improper hiring practicegas not inappropriate because it
was a‘protected activity” Doc. 41 at |16, 189, 2122, 37, 42, 445, 49, 51, 6662, 6465, 68,
71, 74, 80). Plaintiff further asserts that he did not behave inappropriately byngporEakes
the concerns his eaorkers had expressed during the July 2009 retreat, because in his view, he
was not expected to maintain thetreatdiscussions in confidence,vgin the retreat’s purpose,

which wasto developa new EESaction planbased on the employeeg€commendations and



input (Doc. 36.13 at -38). Plaintiff also argues that he did not breach any expectation of
confidentiality becauséhe disclosed his eworkers concerns to Fakes “in confidence” (Boc
36.13 at 641 at 118, 29,41). In contrastDefendant argues thBlaintiff wasexpected to keep
the retreat discussions in confidence, noting that Plaintiff, in his depositidroldsteinat the
administraitve hearing both testified that retreat participants were expected to maintiaen
confidentiality of retreat discussiof®ocs. 36.2 at 38; 36.13 at 6; 37 at 13-14).

[I. Summary Judgment Standard

The Court may grant a motion for summary judgment if the mioshows that there is
no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgmenéathsr af

law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); Peterson v. Kopp, 754 F.3d 594, 598 (8th Cir. 2014). A moving party

bears the burden of informing the Court of the basis of its mation. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477

U.S. 317, 323 (1986). Once the moving party discharges this burden, the nonmoving party must
set forth specific facts demonstrating that there is a dispute as to a gesuamef material fact,

not the “mere existence of some alleged factual dispétederson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477

U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

In passing on a motion for summary judgment, the Court must view the facts in the light
most favorable to the nonmoving party, and all justifiable inferences must be drawrfamdri
Celotex 477 U.S. at 331. The Court’s function is not to weigh the evidence but to determine
whether there is a genuine issue for talderson 477 U.S. at 249. “Credibility determinations,
the weighing ofthe evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury

functions, not those of a judge.” Torgerson v. City of Rochester, 643 F.3d 1031, 1042 (8th Cir.

2011) (quoting_Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 15)). (2860

Eighth Circuit has cautioned that “summary judgment seldom should be used in employment



discrimination cases, because such cases are inherentipatset and often depend on

inferences rather than on direct eviden@eeWierman v. Casey’s Gelstores 638 F.3d 984,

1002 (8th Cir. 2011).
Where parties file crossiotions for summary judgment, each summary judgment motion
must be evaluated independently to determine whether a genuine issue of naategbkfs and

whether the movant is entitled judgment as a matter of lawlusinga v. FederéWlogul

Ignition Co., 519 F.Supp.2d 929, 942 (S.D. lowa 2007). “[T]he filing of cross motions for
summary judgment does not necessarily indicate that there is no dispute as¢oal faet, or
have theeffect of submitting the cause to a plenary determination on the mgviesrhager v.

Cormorant TwpBd., 716 F.2d 1211, 1214 (8th Cir. 1983). In determining the appropriateness of

summary judgment, “the relevant inquiry is whether the evidence presestsficient
disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is seidee that one party must

prevail as a matter of lawBingaman v. Kansas City Power & Light Co., 1 F.3d 976, 980 (10th

Cir. 1993) (quoting Anderson, 477 U.S. at 251-52).
lll. Analysis
A. Plaintiff's Title VII Claims
1. Plaintiff’'s Claim of Race Discrimination

Title VIl does not require direct evidence of race discriminatidesert Palace, Inc. v.

Costa 539 U.S. 90, 92, 9801 (2003). Where, as here, there is no direct evidence, an employee
canestablish a prima fae claim of race discrimination circumstantially by showihgt “(1) he
is a member of a protected class; (2) he met the legitimate expectations of his en(p)dye
sufered an adverse employment action; and (4) similarly situated empldyaesvére not

members of the protected class were treated differeiithilip v. Ford Motor Co., 413 F.3d 766,




768 (8th Cir. 2005]citing Gilmore v. AT&T, 319 F.3d 1042, 1046 (8th Cir. 20Q3WcDonnell

Douglas Corpv. Green411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing, by

a preponderance of the evidence, “specific, tangible evidence that employeesnetsimilarly
situated in all respects to him receiwditferent treatmentrbm” the employerPhilip, 413 F.3d

at 768.The individuals used for comparison must have dealt with the same supervisor, have been
subject to the same standgrdndhaveengaged in the same conduct without any mitigating or

distingushing circumstances. Clark v. Runyon, 218 F.3d 915, 918 (8th Cir. 2000) (citing Lynn v.

Deaconess Med. Ctw. Campus, 160 F.3d 484, 488 (8th Cir. 1998) Permanent employees

are not similarly situated to probationary employééstcer v. City of CedaRapids 308 F.3d
840, 844 (8th Cir. 2002). If the plaintiff can establish a prima facie case ofhdisation based
on race, the burden then shifts to the employer to establish a legitimatdisaeminatory
reason for the adverse employment acti@ark, 218 F.3d at 918.

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant discriminated against him based on hi@ese19; 39
at 912). In response, Defendant does not dispute that Plaiatiff AfricanAmerican,is a
member of a protected class, or that he suffered an adverse employmentwvaetiohe was
terminated. Instead, Defendant contends that, given his inappropriate beR&iitiff cannot
show that he met Defendant’s legitimate expectations, or that similarly situatedyeaespioho
were not members of thotected class were treated any differetitgn he was (D@37 at 8
12; 43 at 9-12).

Plaintiff has submited no direct evidence of race discrimination. He has, however,
identified tree employees whom he claims were similarly situated to him buée vreated
differently: Jeff Rainey, a Caucasian, male Education Specialist assighv8No15; Deborah

Ray, a Caucasian, female PSA assigned to VISN 15;Marty Oexner, a Caucasian male

10



Instructional Systems Specialist in the EES’s National Projects Bath reported to Fakes
(Docs. 36.22; 41 at 9655. According to Plaintiff, thesehtee employeeswere similarly
situated to him because, although they had different job titles and were assigrifeftidntd&ES
units, they performed similar job dutiasd also reported to Mary Fak@3oc. 36.13 at 1-12).
Plaintiff asserts that Oexner engaged in the same behavior that he did byhgtteedhugust
2009 goingaway party (Dos. 36.13 at 1315; 41 at 16361). He further asserts that Rairayd
Ray enga@d in similar behavior by discussing Fakes’s hiring practices at the rdbeec. (
36.13 at b-17; 41at 1163-69. Rainey was not disciplined for attending the geamgay party;
and Oexner wasnot disciplined for discussing Fakesiging practices at the retreat (Doc. 4tl
196162). According to Plaintiff, Fakes mada negative comment on Ray’s performance review
after she learned of the comments she made regarding favoritism at the(Deiosat38.3 at 8;
38.22; 41 at Y64 Plaintiff does not allege that Raineyay,or Oexner told Fakes that their-co
workers had expressed concerns regarding her hiring practices, or thaathegppropriate
workplace interactions with their agorkers(Doc. 36.13 at 15, 17-18).

In response, Defendant contends that Rainey,aRdyOexner were not similarly situated
to Plaintiff (Docs. 37 at 89; 43 at 78). More specifically, Defendant notes that, unlike Plaintiff,
Rainey Ray, andOexner vere notprobationary employesgDoc. 41at {160, 62, 64). Defendant
also argues that, unlike Plaintiff, Raineitay, and Oexner dichot breach their caorkers’
confidence by disclosing retreat discussions to Fakes.

The Court concludes that Plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case of race
discrimination under Title VIbecause he has not identified any employee who waisady
situated to himbut was treated differentlyPhilip, 413 F.3d at 768 (plaintiff must identify

similarly situated employeagho were not members of the protected clasd whowere treated

11



differently). Notably unlike Plaintiff, Oexner, Ray, and R&ney were not probationary
employeesMercer, 308 F.3d at 844 (probationary employees and permanent employees are not
similarly situated). In addition, nothing in the record suggests that QeRagr or Rainey
engaged in the same behavior for which Plaintiff was disciplined, i.e., complé&inkakes that
other employees thought she was favoring her friends and foraveoré&ers in hiring decisions.
Oexner Ray,and Rainey therefore were not similarijuated to Plaintiff Further, RaineyRay,
and Oexner did not discloskeir discussions with cavorkers or have inappropriate interactions
with co-workers.In short, Plaintiff has not identified any probationary employee who reported to
Fakes, complainetb her about her allegedly improper hiring practices, and was not terminated
as a result. Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintiff has radilestted a prima facie case
of race discriminatiorashe has notsubstantiated his allegation with evidence that would permit
the Court, or a jury, to find in his favddefendanis entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's
race discrimination clainBeeCelotex 477 U.S. at 331.
2. Plaintiff's Title VIl Retaliation Claim

Plaintiff argues that Defendant retaliated against him because he participated i
“protected concertedactivities; i.e. conversations with his amorkers about the hiring of
Fakess friends and his report to Fakes that hisnawkers had concesrthat shewasfavoring
her friendswhen hirirg for positions at EE§Doc. 39) In response, Defendant contends that
Plaintiff's Title VII retaliation claim must fail because he never reported atioalaf Title VII,
and because he cannot establish that his report of Fakes'’s allegedly impiogeprhittices was
the “but for” cause of his terminatigbocs. 37, 43.

To establish a prima facie claim of retaliation under Title VII, Plaintiff must shpwhét

he engaged in protected activity; (2) that he suffered a materially adverseymepicadbn;
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and(3) the materially adverse action was causally connected to his protectés. aatright v.

St. Vincent Health Sys730 F.3d 732, 737 (8th Cir. 201@)jting Kim v. Nash Finch Co., 123

F.3d 1046, 1060 (8th Cir. 1997)Protected activity isan informal or formal complaint about,
or other opposition to, an employer’s practice or act . . . if the employee reasonigvigsbeuch

an act to be in violation of [Title VII]! Petersen v. ProxyMed, Inc., 617 F. Supp. 2d 835, 844

(D.S.D. 2008) (quing Jeseritz v. Potter282 F.3d 542, 548 (8th Cir. 2002)). A “protected

activity” can be either opposing an act of discrimination made unlawfultleyMil, or making a

charge, testifying, assisting, or participating in an investigation undler \il. SeeDavis v.

Jefferson Hosp. Ass’n, 685 F.3d 675, 684 (8th Cir. 2012). To establish that he engaged in
protected activity, Plaintiff need not demonstrate that the underlying conduct hedpys in
fact, prohibited by Title VII; he must, however, show that he had a good faith, rbksbebef

that the underlying conduct violated the statute. Brannum v. Mo. Dep'’t of Corr., 518 F.3d 542,

547 (8th Cir. 2008]jciting Bakhtiari v. Lutz, 507 F.3d 1132, 1137 (8th Cir. 2007)).

Plaintiff's own deposition testimony shows that,tla time he engaged ithe alleged
protected activity, he believed only thBakeshad been hiring her friends and former co
coworkersfor positions in EES, conduct which he could not have reasonably believed was
prohibited by Title VI. He did not report discriminatory conduct, aadcording tohis own
testimony,at the time of his alleged protected activig,did not know who the friends were or
whether they were Caucasiafss such, the Court concludes that Plaintiff's acts of disiog
Fakes's hiring practices with his eaorkers and of complainghabout allegefavoritismclearly
were not protected by Title VII, which by its plain terms prohibits oamployment
discriminationthat isbased on race, color, religion, sex, or nalarrigin. 42 U.S.C. 000e-2

(prohibiting employment discriminatiobased on race, color, religion, saxdnational origin;
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Gilliam v. Lee Cnty. Sch. BdNo. 2:01CVv000832002 WL 31906274, at *5 n.6 (W.D. Va.

2002 (“Nepotism, of course, is not a violation of Title VII unless it is based on race or

religion.”) (citing Thomas v. Washington Cnty. Sch. Bd., 915 F.2d 922, 925 (4th Cir. 1990))

RobinsonReeder v. Am. Council on Educ., 532 F.Supp.2d 6134D.D.C. 2008) (plaintiff's

allegation that she vggplaced on probation afteshe complained of workplace nepotism was
insufficient to provide foundation for Title VII retaliation claim, as complairabgut effects of
nepotism did not qualify as protected activity).

In short, at the time he engagedthe allegedly protected actiyibf reporting what he
believed were nepotistic hiring practices, Plaintiff did not have a reasonabdé¢ thali his
conduct was protected by Title VII's am@taliation provision.See 42 U.S.C. 82000e3(a)
(prohibiting employers from discriminating against an employee because heppased an
employment practice made unlawful by Title VII, or because he has made a chaified,test
assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, oighazdarTitle

VII); cf. Logan v. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs404 F. Supp. 2d 72{6-77 (D.D.C. 2005)

(plaintiff’'s grievance regarding medical care and letter regarding rear&g practices were not
protected activity under Title VII because they did not “includdaan of discrimination based
upon race, color, religion, sex, or national origin”).
B. Plaintiff's ADEA Claim

The ADEA makes it “unlawful for an employer . . . to discharge any individual or
otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to dumpensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's age.” 29 U.S.C.
8623(a)(1). Persons age forty and over are protected by the ADEA. 29 U.&G3C. Blaintiff

can meet his burden of establishing intentional diso@tion by presenting either direct or,

14



more likely, indirect evidence of employment discrimination based on age. Madel MKgg.,

Inc., 116 F.3d 1247, 1251 (8th Cir. 1997) (citing Rothmeier v. Inv. Advisers, Inc., 85 F.3d 1328,

133233 (8th Cir. 1996)). In cases involving indirect evidence of age discrimination, courts apply

the burden shifting analysis set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792

(1973).1d. (citing Holley v. Sanyo Mfg. Inc., 771 F.2d 1161, 1164 (8th Cir. 1985)). Utitker

McDonnell Douglasframework, Plaintiff must first establish a prima facie case of age

discrimination Fisher v. Pharmacia & Upjohn, 225 F.3d 915, 919 (8th Cir. 2000) (citing Regel v.

K-Mart Corp, 190 F.3d 876, 879 (8th Cir. 1999)). To establish a grfacie case of age
discrimination, Plaintiff must show (1) he is a member of a protected age group; (Zshe w
performing his job at a level that met Defendant’s legitimate expectatiornse (8xs terminated,;

and (4) he was replaced by a younger perBater v. Pharmacia & Upjohn, 225 F.3d 915, 919

(8th Cir. 2000);_Fabian v. St. Louis Rams, P’siNp. 4:12cv-1112JAR, 2014 WL 222816, at

*4 (E.D. Mo. Jan. 21, 2014A plaintiff may create an inference of agased discrimination by
showing that simildy-situated employees outside the protected class were treated more

favorably. Thomas v. Corwin, 483 F.3d 516, 528 (8th Cir. 2007). However, to do so, a plaintiff

must show that the other employees were similarly situated in all relevanttsefpeenz v

Tyson Foods, In¢147 F.Supp.3d 792, 802 (N.D. lowa 2015) (citing Ridout v. JBS USA, |.LC

716 F.3d 1079, 1085 (8th Cir. 20)3)ndividuals used for comparison must have dealt with the
same supervisors, have been subject to the same standards, and engaged in the same conduc
without any mitigating or distinguishing circumstandés(citing Wierman 638 F.3d at 994).

If Plaintiff establishes a prima facie case agfe discriminationthen the burden of
production shifts to Defendant to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminagagon for any

adverse employment action taken against Plairdfflf Defendant puts forth such a reason,

15



Plaintiff must then present evidence sufficient to raise a question of matetialsféo whether
Defendant’s proffered reason was pretextual and to create a reasonable infererye \ilzet @
determinative factoin the adverse employmenttaon. Fisher 225 F.3d at 91¢citing Keathley

v. Ameritech Corp.187 F.3d 915, 919 (8th Cir. 1999)he ultimate issue on a motion for

summary judgment on an ADEA claim is “whether the evidence is suffieesreate a genuine
issue of fact as to wheththe employer intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff because
of the plaintiff's age."Madel 116 F.3d at 12552 (quotingRothmeier 85 F.3d at 1337).

Plaintiff argues thabefendant discriminated against him based on hisrag®lation of
the ADEA by terminating him and replacing him with a younger employtehas identified
five Education Program Specialisthio were hired after he was terminatéaree of whom were
under age 40: Robert Patterson, age 26; Patricia Bagsby, age 28; ami1aatni, age 28 (Doc.
38.20).According to Plaintiff, he was replaced by Mary S(leacs. 41 at {58; 43 at 10-11).

Defendantdoes not dispute that five new Education Program Specialists were hired after
Plaintiff was terminagéd Instead, Defendant emphases that Sheawho Plaintiff believes
replaced him, is older tharehs, and argues that he thus cannot establish an essential element of
his prima facieADEA claim, i.e., that he was replaced by a younger person. Defendant also
notes thatwo of the newEducationProgramSpecialistaareolder than Plaintiff: Lauran Hardy,
age 50; and Shea, agé @oc. 38.20).Defendantfurther notes thathe threenew Education
ProgramSpecialists who were younger than Plaintifre hired as student traineasd thathey
did not report to Fakes or Surratt (Docs. 37 at 5-6; 41 at 159; 41.3; 43 at 7-8).

The Court concludes that Plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case of age

discrimination under the ADEA.More specifically, even when viewed in the lightosh

* Plaintiff urges the Court to make a dige inference against Defendant on the issue of
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favorable to Plaintiff, the evidence does not support a finding that Plaintiff wasceepby a

younger personCelotex 477 U.S. at 331see alsdrisher 225 F.3d at 919Notably, Plaintiff

contends that he was replaced by Shea,—wdito60 years of ag—was 13 years older than
Plaintiff when she became an EducatfrmogramSpecialist in September 202 @Cf. O’Connor

v. Consol. Coin Caterers Corp., 517 U.S. 308,-B32(1996) (no inference that adverse

employment action was based on age discriminatiorbeamade where plaintifmployee was
replaced with another employee who is insignificantly younger). In addition, offithe
Education Program Specialists who Plaintiff has identified as employees whoarareplaced
him, two were older thanehwas (Shea and Hardy)Moreover,the threeother newEducation
Program Specialists were not similarly situated to Plaintiff, as they werkdsstudentrainees
and did not report tthe same supervisor as Plaintifbrenz 147 F. Supp. 3d at 802.

The Court further notes thatat 49 years old-Plaintiff was a member of a protected
class under the ADEA at the tinme was hired, a fact that weighs heavily against an inference
that he was later terminated becau3efendant had a preference for youngeplayees.See
Holley, 771 F.2dat 1166 (demonstrated pattern of preference for younger employees can help
prove discriminatory intent). Moreovehere is no evidence that Defendant terminated any other
older employees; or that Plaintiff was regularly satgd to agébased comments or epitheSee

id.; see alsoRuther v. KARE 11, 108 F.3d 832, 843 (8th Cir. 199Y (co-employees’

statementshat plaintiff wasan “old fart,” “old man,” and “too old to be on the air,” with other

whether there was a causal connection between his age and his termination, dguing t
Defendant destroyed certain hiring records during the pendency adrhigistrativeproceeding
(Doc.19 at 57). The Court is not persuaded by Plaintiff's spoliation argument, and notes that he
did not seek an order compelling Defendant to produce the documents at isewethar
imposition of discovery sanctions.

®> The Court also notes th&heawas promoedto Educatdn ProgramSpedalist eleven
months after Plaintiff was terminated, a fact that alsaghs against an inference that she
“replaced him (Doc. 41at 1156, 58).
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evidence, raised an inferenof discrimination). The Court thus concludes that Plaintiff has
failed to establish a prima facie case of age discrimination under the AieAhat Defendant
is therefore entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's ADEA cla@®lotex 477 U.S. at 331.
C. Plaintiff's USERRA Claim

Finally, Plaintiff claims that Defendant violated USERRA by discriminatingnatydim
on the basis of his pvious military service(Docs.19 at 35, 7-9; 39 at 79). In response,
Defendant argues that the Court lacks jurisaiicover Plaintiff's USERRA claingDoc.37 at 3.
Enacted by Congress in 1994, USERRA prohibits employment discrimination on thefbasis
military service.See38 U.S.C. #4301, et seq.In addition to creating these substantive rights,
USERRA sets forth a detailed scheme for enforcement of rights under thelnler 84323,
USERRA claims against “States” and “private employers” may be brought in fedstattd
court. Under 324, clans against “Federal executive agencies” may be brought before the
Merit Systems Protection Board (“MSPB”). Thus, in contrast to the proeeskiablished for
employees of “States” or “private employers,” who may file claims in feder&iatlisourt,
USERRA requires that an aggrieved Department of Veterans Affairs employesldirstclaim
with the MSPB. Thereafter, any appeal of the MSPB’s decision must be brioeifghe the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. 38 U.S4328(d)(1).The Court will

therefore dismiss Plaintiff's USERRA claim for lack of jurisdictidnegler v. Kempthorne, 266

F. App’x 505, 507 (8th Cir. 2008) (unpublished per curiam opinion) (federal district cowetllack
jurisdiction over USERRA claimBroughtagains federal executive agenty
IV. Conclusion

Accordingly,
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IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 39) is
DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgménoc.
35)is GRANTED. A separate judgmemtill accompany this order.

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that, in light of tlis ruling, all other pending motions are

DENIED as moot

Gt A M

JOHNA. ROSS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Dated thisl5th day of December, 2016.
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